
 

 
 
 
Forest of Bowland National Landscape 
 
Thursday, 18th April, 2024 at 2.00 pm in Wild Fox Distillery, Lower Barker 
Farm, Button Street, Inglewhite, Preston, Lancashire, PR3 2LH  
 
 

Programme 
 
1.00pm Meet at Wild Fox Distillery (tea/coffee and cake on arrival) 
1.30pm Short introduction and tour by Wild Fox Distillery 
2.00pm Meeting 
 

Agenda 
 
  
1. Welcome, Introductions and Apologies for Absence   

 
 

 
2. Disclosure of Pecuniary Interests    
 Members are asked to consider any Pecuniary 

Interests they may have to disclose to the meeting in 
relation to matters under consideration on the Agenda. 
 

 

 
3. Minutes of the Meeting held on 19 October 2023   (Pages 1 - 10) 
 The Committee is asked to approve the minutes of the 

previous meeting held on 19 October 2023. 
  

 

 
4. Partner Updates (Open to all)   

 
(Verbal Report) 

 
5. National Landscape Partnership Budget FY2024/25 

  
(To Follow) 

 
6. Peatland Restoration Project  

 
(Verbal Report) 

 
7. National Landscape Team Activity Report (Oct 2023 

- April 2024)  
 

(Pages 11 - 20) 

 
8. Three Counties: One River, Stage 1 Bid to National 

Lottery Heritage Fund (NLHF)   
 
 
 

(Verbal Report) 

 



9. Urgent Business    
 An item of Urgent Business may only be considered 

under this heading, where, by reason of special 
circumstances to be recorded in the minutes, the 
Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion that the item 
should be considered at the meeting as a matter of 
urgency.  Wherever possible, the Chief Executive 
should be given advance warning of any Members' 
intention to raise a matter under this heading. 
 

 

 
10. Date of Next Meeting    
 The proposed dates and provisional locations for the 

Committee meetings to be held in 2024/25 are: 
  
10 October 2024, North Yorkshire, venue to be 
confirmed 
 
3 April 2025, Ribble Valley, venue to be confirmed 
  

 

 
 
                                 Samantha Gorton 

Democratic Services 
 

Lancashire County Council 
County Hall 
Preston 
 
 

 

 



 
 
 
Forest of Bowland Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Joint Advisory Committee 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held on Thursday, 19th October, 2023 at 2.00 pm in 
Roughlee Village Centre, Roughlee, Nelson, BB9 6NR 
 
Present: 
 
Chair 
 
County Councillor Shaun Turner, Lancashire County Council 
 
Committee Members 
 
County Councillor Simon Myers, North Yorkshire Council 
Councillor John Ibison, Wyre Borough Council 
Helen Dix, Environment Agency 
Andrew Taylor, Bowland Land Managers Forum 
Mike Pugh, Champion Bowland 
David Kelly, Ramblers Association 
Sonja Ludwig, Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) 
James Cooper, Natural England 
 
Officers 
 
Hetty Byrne, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit 
Lucy Henwood, Preston City Council 
Timothy Johns, North Yorkshire Council 
Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit 
Sandra Silk, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit 
Sam Gorton, Legal and Democratic Services, LCC 
Sarah Robinson, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit 
 
Apologies 
 
County Councillor Matthew Maxwell-Scott, Lancashire County Council 
County Councillor Ged Mirfin, Lancashire County Council 
Councillor Mrs Rosemary Elms, Ribble Valley Borough Council 
Cllr Anna Hindle, Preston City Council 
Councillor Ruth Colbridge, Lancaster City Council 
Colin Price, Yorkshire Local Councils Association 
Marilyn Pilkington, Friends of Bowland 
Neil Kilgour, Moorland Association 
Alison Boden, Wyre Borough Council 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 
 

David Hewitt, Ribble Valley Borough Council 
Richard Camp, Lancaster City Council 
Andrew Laycock, North Yorkshire Council 
Alex Shutt, Ribble Valley Borough Council 
  
1.   Welcome, Introductions and Apologies for Absence 

 
All were welcomed to the meeting, introductions made, and apologies presented on behalf 
of the Committee members as noted. 
  
The Committee noted that Michael Leah had replaced Liz Small, North Yorkshire Council. 
  
Alternates for this meeting were: 
  
Timothy Johns for Michael Leah, North Yorkshire Council 
Sonja Ludwig for Robin Horner, RSPB 
   
2.   Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair 

 
Resolved:    County Councillor Shaun Turner and County Councillor Matthew Maxwell- 
  Scott were appointed Chair and Vice-Chair respectively for the 2023/2024  
  Municipal Year. 
   
3.   Disclosure of Pecuniary  Interests 

 
There were no disclosures of pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests. 
  
4.   Constitution, Membership and Terms of Reference 

 
Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council presented the 
constitution, membership and terms of reference. 
  
It was suggested that the Ribble Rivers Trust be approached to join the Committee and 
Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council approach the 
Trust with regards to appointing a representative as well as to invite them to present at a 
future meeting the work they are currently involved with and future projects in Lancashire. 
  
Resolved:    (i)        That the Committee approved the constitution, membership and terms 
   of reference for 2023/24. 

(ii)       That Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire 
 County Council approach the Ribble Rivers Trust to discuss 
 representation on the Committee and also invite them to provide an 
 update on the work they are currently undertaking and have planned 
 for the future. 

  
5.   Minutes of the Meeting held on 20 April 2023 

 
Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council provided a brief 
update on the Haweswater Aqueduct Resilience Programme's (HARP) current position.  A 
request had been made by MP Nigel Evans to the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, 
Housing and Communities to call-in the two decisions made by Ribble Valley Borough 

Page 2



 
 

Council in July 2023; however, it was not called-in, and the position is currently that the 
local authorities are progressing with drawing up a Section 106 agreement.   
  
Elliott Lorimer has been in discussion with United Utilities with regards to timescales and 
now that works have been consented, United Utilities agreed to consider a Planning 
Performance Agreement in order that the AONB can manage the burden and that will be 
progressed by Elliott Lorimer with the Local Planning Authorities. 
  
United Utilities are in the process of procuring the design and build contractor for the 
project and is expected to conclude late 2024 and then following, the discharge in 
conditions will commence.  It is envisaged that commencement of works will be towards 
the end of 2025. 
  
Resolved:    (i)        That the minutes of the meeting held on 20 April 2023 were agreed as 
   a correct record. 

(ii)        That the update on the Haweswater Aqueduct Resilience Programme 
 be noted. 

  
6.   Brief Partner Updates 

 
Royal Society for the Protection of Birds (RSPB) 
  
Sonja Ludwig, RSPB provided the following update: 
  
Support for breeding farmland waders  
  
       Annual report for breeding waders being written up, will be shared with partners before 

Christmas.  
       2023 Breeding season Results 
➢ 69 farms monitored, with 6% increase in survey area from 2022.  
➢ Estimated numbers (to be finalised) are: 
 Curlew 322 pairs, Lapwing 216 pairs, Oystercatcher 135 pairs, Redshank 28 pair, 

Snipe 56 pairs. 
➢ Better breeding season generally in 2023, after low point in 2022. Likely down to 

more favourable weather, possibly survey effort, and possible benefits of positive 
habitat management. 

➢ Nest monitoring and protection: 28 nests monitored (18 Curlew, four Oystercatcher, 
one Redshank, one Snipe). 19 hatched successfully. Causes of nest failure include 
predation by fox, carrion crow, rat, stoat and trampling by livestock. Nine nests 
fenced with electrified predator exclusion fencing, six of these hatched, two 
predated by carrion crow, one abandoned before fencing.   

➢ Other work includes funding applications through Farming in Protected Landscapes 
(FiPL), Yorkshire Dales Millennium Trust (YDMT) and Natural England (NE) for 
habitat improvement work and further monitoring of nests and curlew chicks. Also, 
ongoing advice for farmers on Countryside Stewardship (CS), Capital Grant, 
Sustainable Farming Incentive (SFI) and Farming in Protected Landscapes (FiPL) 
applications. Ongoing advice with partners on suitability of woodland creation.  

  
 
 
 

Page 3



 
 

Bird of prey monitoring 
  
Upland breeding raptors had been monitored on the United Utilities estate in partnership 
with United Utilities and their tenants. Hen harriers had another successful breeding 
season; breeding numbers were lower compared to the record-breaking season in 2022 
but chick survival was higher. Nine nesting attempts had been recorded by eight females, 
of which seven were successful and fledged a total of 32 young. For the fourth year in a 
row, hen harriers also nested successfully on private estates (two nesting attempts, one of 
which fledged two chicks). However, both nests were located outside the Bowland Fells 
SPA, which has dropped again below the number of breeding pairs that it was designated 
for (12 pairs). 
  
2023 was also a good year for merlin (seven pairs, four successful fledging 11 young) and 
short-eared owls (six pairs). However, none of the three territorial peregrine pairs was 
successful, which is only the second time in over 30 years that no peregrine chicks fledged 
from the United Utilities estate. 
  
In addition, RSPB staff and volunteers helped to collate records for the breeding bird atlas 
of the Lancashire and District Bird Watching Society in Tetrads on the United Utilities 
Estate. This survey will continue in 2024. 

  
Environment Agency (EA) 
  
Helen Dix, Environment Agency (EA) reported that there is currently a fund of £25 million 
that has been announced by DEFRA and managed through the EA for natural flood risk 
management and is inviting bids.  There are no specific thresholds however, they are 
expecting single site projects in the order of around £250,000 with a catchment approach 
of up to £2.5 million.  It is foreseen that all three Rivers Trusts will be submitting bids and if 
they are successful will be within the AONB.  Deadline for expressions of interest is 10 
November 2023 and then projects that pass that phase will be invited to the next stage. 
  
Wyre Borough Council 
  
Councillor John Ibison, Wyre Borough Council informed the Committee that he had 
attended a recent meeting of the Brock and Calder Farm Cluster.  Dr Heather Stott, River 
Wyre Trust is co-ordinating an application to the Natural Flood Risk Management fund 
which will cover approximately 50 hectares of which there are over 22 farms/land 
managers involved.  Work will involve natural flood management and will improve 
environmental and farming practices. 
  
It was also noted that Councillor John Ibison had been involved with a group at Calder 
Vale who had recently received funding from Electricity North West  and are looking at 
alternative carbon friendly methods of electricity of which they are progressing and are 
looking at having a small community heat group that will be heated by borehole and heat 
pumps, which will be a first in the country. 
  
Councillor John Ibison also attended a lecture held by the Friends of Bowland and 
reported that it was an enjoyable and interesting talk and sent his compliments to the 
Friends of Bowland. 
  

Page 4



 
 

Alison Boden, Wyre Borough Council had shared an update in her absence and following 
the meeting, would be circulated to the Committee.  The report included: 
 
 The Councils planning, public realm and community teams are finalising the combined 

Green Infrastructure Audit and Strategy with the Sports Pitch Strategy and Public Open 
Space Audit and are pulling together the consultation feedback received this summer.  

 Wyre`s team have supported the Wyre Rivers Trust Catchment partnership and 
landowners in their work to develop landscape scale partnerships. 

 The Wyre Coast and Countryside team continue to patrol and care for popular picnic 
areas, concessionary paths, and public rights of ways and access areas removing 
litter, fly-tipping and updating site information and habitat management. Leading and 
checking out guided walk routes. 

 Volunteers have undertaken leaky dam works with the Wyre Rivers Trust team on the 
Wyre catchment and footpath repairs in Grizedale, Brock and Grizedale Valleys. 

 Volunteering for April – October in Forest of Bowland AONB, 850 Volunteer Days = 
3879 Volunteer Hours. 

 Wyre Great Outdoors in Festival Bowland - It has been a busy year with good 
attendances for April – October in the AONB with 564 taking part in short walks and 
conservation activities in the Wyre Great Outdoors and 547 taking part in the Bowland 
locations of the Garstang Walking Festival, both part of the Festival Bowland 
Programme and promoted on the Festival Bowland website. 

 Garstang Walking Festival, 5-14 May 2023 - The festival was a great success and is 
supported by Wyre and coordinated and led by the Friends of Garstang Walking 
Festival whose commitment to developing a quality experience and showcasing the 
landscape and habitats of Wyre is exceptional. Customers included visitors from 
overseas as well as the UK (through connections with family and friends) who planned 
their visits to Wyre to coincide with the festival. Many of the walks were fully booked. 
Walks took place in many locations throughout Wyre and locations in Bowland included 
Garstang, Bleasdale, Calder Vale, Scorton, Dunsop Bridge and Langden Intake. 
Customers were able to book for the first time via Ticket Tailor, an on-line booking 
system, supported by the great outdoors booking team based in Poulton and Garstang. 
In-person support was given by the Friends of the Garstang Walking Festival who were 
on hand at Garstang Library to provide help to customers not used to booking on-line. 

 The trained walk leaders were mainly Wyre walk volunteers and Festival Friends with 
staff support from Wyre Coast and Countryside team, Wyre Rivers Trust, and Garstang 
Library. The Festival this year also incorporated the Wyre Coronation Walk where an 
additional 400 people took part in a mass participation walk (led by a band of 
musicians) as a part of the coronation weekend, the walk and performance events took 
place in Cherestanc Square, on the Riverside Picnic Area and Garstang Millennium 
Green coordinated by the council's events team and it helped to celebrate and promote 
the value of volunteering in the community. Popular walks in the festival included “To 
Grizedale and back “and “Geology of Bowland” and the “Wyre Way “long distance walk 
finishing at Abbeystead. For the first time a festival celebration meal was held on the 
last day at Bleasdale Parish Hall with food supplied by local caterers which was well 
supported by walk leaders and customers. Feedback from customers was 
overwhelmingly positive with participants really enjoying the enthusiasm, kindness, and 
knowledge of the leaders. 
  

Page 5



 
 

Resolved:    Sam Gorton, Democratic Services, Lancashire County Council would  
  circulate the report from Alison Boden, Wyre Borough Council to the  
  Committee. 
  
North Yorkshire Council 
  
Timothy Johns, North Yorkshire Council spoke about the local nature recovery strategy, 
which is a huge project and recapped that North Yorkshire Council is now one authority, 
where seven districts have merged with the County Council to form the Unitary and local 
government review continues within.  North Yorkshire Council was appointed in June 2023 
to carry out the local nature recovery strategy and funding was confirmed shortly 
afterwards.  The governance structures are being set up with North Yorkshire Council as 
the responsible authority with four supporting authorities – the two National Parks, City of 
York and Natural England.  There is also an Advisory (Steering) Group of which Forest of 
Bowland Joint Advisory Committee have a seat.  An away day was held in September 
2023 for the Advisory Group, and it will meet monthly throughout the process as well as 
several Task and Finish Groups (Species and Habitats, Data and Mapping, Public 
Consultation and Land Management).  Elliott Lorimer, National Landscape, Lancashire 
County Council informed the Board that a parallel process was also ongoing in Lancashire 
and involved Lancashire County, Blackburn with Darwen and Blackpool Councils and are 
working to the same timescales and are working cross boundaries also. 
  
Bowland Land Managers Forum 
  
Andrew Taylor, reported on the Forest of Bowland Farmer Group and how successful it 
had been to date, with a further report in the AONB Activity Report at Item 11 and that 
those involved were happy with the group and what they were getting from that 
involvement. 
  
Champion Bowland 
  
Mike Pugh, Champion Bowland updated the Board on the promotional activities that were 
currently taking place and reminded members what Champion Bowland came about 
through the Forest of Bowland Sustainable Tourism initiative which commenced in 2006 
and developed gradually through that network and is now a chartered incorporated 
organisation and regulated by the Charity Commission and managed by seven volunteer 
trust organisations, four of whom are local tourism operators.  They are an independent 
charity, and the main purpose is to offer grants up to £750 to promote, for the benefit of 
the public, the conservation, heritage, and improvement of the physical and natural 
environment of the Forest of Bowland National Landscape and advance the education of 
the public in these areas.  Further information can be found on the website 
https://www.championbowland.org.uk/.  Champion Bowland also owns and operate the 
Discover Bowland Website https://www.discoverbowland.uk/.  Donations are welcomed 
and monies have also been received as part of the Pendle Hill Legacy Fund which again 
are used for projects in the AONB.  Fundraising also takes place and the Chair agreed to 
speak with Mike Pugh outside of the meeting regards to funding that may be available 
from the Legends Car Rally. 
  
Resolved:    That the Chair speak with Mike Pugh, Champion Bowland regarding possible 
  funding streams available. 
  

Page 6

https://www.championbowland.org.uk/
https://www.discoverbowland.uk/


 
 

Following all the updates from Partners, it was: 
  
Resolved:    That the Committee noted the updates. 
   
7.   AONB Management Plan Review 

 
Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council presented the 
AONB Management Plan Review report as the 2019-2024 plan is now due for review.  
The report provided the context for the Review and an outlined methodology and timetable 
for consideration by the Committee.  It is intended that the final draft plan will be 
completed by the end of March 2025.  Further details on the following can be found in the 
report, which was attached to the agenda: 
  
       Introduction 
       National Guidance on AONB Management Plan Reviews 
       The Forest of Bowland AONB Management Plan 
       Outline Methodology Timetable 
  
James Cooper, Natural England commented that draft Management Plan review guidance 
had been issued approximately six weeks ago and was launched at the National AONB's 
conference at the beginning of September 2023.  Since then, there has been further 
discussions made and the guidance is being reviewed based on the positive feedback that 
has been received.  There are also national targets that the Secretary of State is poised to 
sign off on and are to be incorporated into the Management Plan as well as a reform to the 
Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill. 
  
Resolved:    That the Committee reviewed the report, offered comments and approved  
  the initial methodology and timetable outlined. 
  
8.   Written Ministerial Statement, Defra Secretary of State, 13 September 2023 

 
Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council alluded to the 
Ministerial Statement that had been tabled on 13 September 2023 by the Defra Secretary 
of State which set out a package of measures to support nature recovery on Protected 
Landscapes.  The plans were also announced in the Lords by Lord Benyon.  The 
Committee received a report which was attached to the agenda and provided a briefing on 
the Statement and further information on: 
 
 Background 
 Roundtable 
 Third Reading of Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill – where the government's 

amendment to the Bill was to enhance AONB and National Park Management Plans 
was passed. 

  
Resolved:    That the Committee received the briefing and offered comments, particularly 
  considering the potential implications for partner local authorities represented 
  on the Joint Advisory Committee. 
 
 
  

Page 7



 
 

9.   National Landscape Rebrand 
 

Elliott Lorimer and Hetty Byrne, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council 
provided a report which set out the final stages of a national initiative to rebrand AONBs as 
National Landscapes, including the anticipated outcomes from the rebrand and the 
implementation of the new name and visual identity.  Further information in the report that 
was attached to the agenda can be found on: 
  
       Background 
       Anticipated Outcomes from Rebranding 
       Implementing the Rebrand 
  
A decision has been taken by Defra and the National Association for AONBs to launch the 
rebrand nationally and locally on 22 November 2023. All AONB Partnerships will also be 
involved in this launch at their local level, with the national launch coordinated by the 
National Association for AONBs (which will be renamed the National Landscapes 
Association at the same time). 
  
The Forest of Bowland AONB team will be working with local partner organisations in 
advance of the November launch to make them aware of the change. There will be local 
media news releases about “Forest of Bowland National Landscape” for the launch day 
and there will also be a change to online presence (website, social media, etc.) to reflect 
the new visual identity. The launch will be used to set out very positive messages about 
the Forest of Bowland’s landscape, wildlife, heritage and people. 
  
Resolved:    That the Committee received and offered comments and advice on the best 
  way to share the new name with both local people and visitors; on how to  
  make the most of these opportunities; and on any risks and how best to  
  manage them. 
   
10.   Revised Estimates 2023/24 and Revenue Budget 2024/25 

 
Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council presented the 
report as set out in the agenda papers. 
  
The report outlines the core budget provision for the Forest of Bowland AONB Joint 
Advisory Committee which is funded by seven constituent local authority partners and 
grant income from Defra, which is also enhanced by additional contribution from United 
Utilities. 
  
The Committee were informed that a core team is established from this budget provision 
to assist in the delivery of the statutory AONB Management Plan on behalf of the Joint 
Advisory Committee and the local authorities. 
  
In terms of the Revenue Budget for 2024/25, it was proposed that there be a modest 
increase (equivalent to approximately 5%) in contributions from funding authorities and in 
addition the estimates also include a similar increase in the contribution from United 
Utilities, matching the level requested of district/borough councils.  The increase is 
proposed to partially address the inflationary pressures the AONB Partnership has been 
experiencing over recent years. 
  

Page 8



 
 

Resolved:    That the Committee: 
 

(i) Noted the 2023/24 Revised Estimates. 
(ii) Approved the proposed 2024/25 Revenue Budget as set out in the 

report, noting the proposed request for a modest increase in local 
authority and other partner contributions. 

(iii) Subject to approval of (ii) above, the AONB Manager requests the 
funding authorities make appropriate provision in their revenue 
budgets for financial year ending 2024/25. 
   

11.   AONB Unit Activity Report (April-October 2023) 
 

Elliott Lorimer, Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, Lancashire County Council presented the 
AONB Team Report that had been tabled and would be circulated to members after the 
meeting. 
  
The Committee were requested to contact officers as detailed in the report, if they had any 
questions/comments, requests for more information, outside of the meeting. 
  
Resolved:    That the report noted. 
  
12.   Farming in Protected Landscapes (FiPL) Programme 

 
Sarah Robinson, Farming in Protected Landscapes (FiPL), Forest of Bowland AONB Unit, 
Lancashire County Council provided an update on the programme which has been running 
from July 2021 and will end in March 2025 and forms part of the Defra post-Brexit 
Agricultural Transition Plan.  The Committee received a detailed presentation which would 
be circulated following the meeting and contained further information on the following: 
  
       The Farming in Protected Landscapes Programme 
       Funding allocation 
       Enquiries, applications, and agreements 
       Projects underway 
➢  Bracken management at Croasdale 
➢  Access for All 
➢  Lawkland Hall Farm reed bed 
➢  Pasture for Life 
➢  The Country Trust 
➢  Wader monitoring equipment 

       FiPL Programme Team 
  
The Committee noted the increase in the project delivery budget for 2024/25 to 
£1,557,240.  In 2023/24 it was £1,050,235 of which 97% was allocated for the current 
year. 
In terms of enquiring, applications, and agreements the Committee were informed that 
there had been: 
  
       251 enquiries 
       228 farms contacted 
       115 applications received 

Page 9



 
 

       106 agreements in place 
       25 projects completed 
  
The Committee was asked to appoint the FiPL Local Assessment Panel members for 
2023/24. 
  
Resolved:    (i)       That the Committee noted the update. 

(ii)      That the Committee appointed the current members of the FiPL Local 
 Assessment Panel to continue as members for 2023/24 and the Chair 
 and Deputy Chair will be appointed at the next Panel Meeting. 

  
9.   Urgent Business 

 
There were no items of urgent business received. 
  
14.   Date of Next Meeting 

 
18 April 2024, Preston district, venue to be confirmed. 
10 October 2024, North Yorkshire, venue to be confirmed. 
  
 
 
 
   Samantha Gorton 

  Democratic Services 
  
Lancashire County Council 
County Hall 
Preston 

 

 

Page 10



1 

 

 

  

JAC Team Report 

October 2023 to April 2024 
 

An Outstanding Landscape of Natural and Cultural Heritage 

Nature Recovery Plan 

 

The National Landscape team has been working with 

landowners, farmers and conservation groups to design a 

roadmap to restore these landscapes, improve habitats for 

wildlife and harness the area’s valuable natural assets to 

mitigate the impacts of climate change. 

The plan will inform county-wide strategies currently being 

developed by Lancashire County Council and North 

Yorkshire Council – ensuring it contributes to a bigger, better 

and a more joined up Nature Recovery Network across the 

north of England.  

It’s also part of a nationwide Nature Recovery Network that 

creates a proactive framework for delivery by the National 

Landscape Partnerships, landowners, farmers, land 

managers, businesses and communities. 

By improving the quality of the habitats and the connections 

between them, the plan outlines how Bowland’s diverse 

landscapes can support thriving populations of 14 ‘champion’ 

species including the hen harrier, black grouse, brown long-

eared bat and brown trout. 

The conservation priorities between now and 2040 are to make Bowland’s precious habitats bigger, 

better and more joined up.  

To download a copy of the plan visit: www.forestofbowland.com/nature-recovery  

 

Farming in Protected Landscapes Programme 

 

The Farming in Protected Landscapes Programme (FiPL), 

originally a 3-year programme, is now entering its fourth and 

final year with 1.5 million to allocate to projects this financial 

year in the Forest of Bowland National Landscape. The team 

have already allocated over half of this budget with plenty 

more applications to process and are hoping to be fully 

allocated by the end of the summer.  

Laura Simpson is a new full-time member to the team who 

joined in November, filling Emily's previous role of Programme Assistant. The whole team are now 

Page 11

Agenda Item 7

http://www.forestofbowland.com/nature-recovery


2 

 

responding to the massive response they have received from farmers and land managers across 

the National Landscape to help facilitate projects which deliver for climate, nature, people, and 

place.  

As of the 25th March 2024, the programme has received 280 expressions of interest, 131 

applications submitted and 116 agreements are either live or have been completed. A list of 

successful projects can be found on our webpage:  

www.forestofbowland.com/farming-protected-landscapes  

Some examples include: 

NATURE: 

• Hay Meadow Restoration through support of YDMT Hay 

time Project Officer. 

• 9,819 metres of hedgerow restoration and 17,289 metres 

of newly planted hedgerows completed or committed 

throughout the programme. 

• Monitoring of wading birds through a project facilitated by 

the RSPB. 

 

CLIMATE: 

• Funding for Pasture For Life to deliver a groundbreaking 

farmer to farmer mentoring project to enable more 

farmers within the Forest of Bowland to reduce their 

inputs of fertiliser and fuel by moving to more 

regenerative farming. 

• Partnership project with Ribble Rivers Trust to reduce local 

flood risk through the installation of large leaky dams to 

improve natural flood management.  

 

PEOPLE: 

• 458 educational access visits completed or committed 

throughout the programme. 

• Installation of a more accessible classroom and bathroom 

facilities and purchase of all-terrain wheelchairs for farms 

offering group visits. 

 

 

PLACE: 

• Restoring an old stone barn back to its former glory to be 

used as an agricultural farm building. 

• 2,846 metres of stone-faced bank and stone wall 

restoration completed or committed through the 

programme.  

 

 

 

 

Page 12

http://www.forestofbowland.com/farming-protected-landscapes
http://www.forestofbowland.com/farming-protected-landscapes


3 

 

Forest of Bowland Farmer Group 

 

The Forest of Bowland farmer group has been 

granted another year's worth of funding from the 

Farming in Protected Landscapes programme, and 

so will continue to run until March 2025. 

Since it began in March 2023, the group co-ordinator 

Nichola has delivered four 'on farm' meetings, all of 

which have been well attended with a variety of 

members at each one. The four topics were 

'Regenerative Agriculture', 'Nature-Friendly Farming 

in Bowland', 'Water, Woodlands and Natural Flood 

Management' and 'Farming and working with 

Waders'.  

By working with local contacts including the Rural Task Force, RSPB and Rivers Trusts, Nichola has 

been able to keep the group informed of any relevant farming news, including local rural crime 

notifications, grants and funding opportunities, and any local training or events etc, by sending out 

emails as and when necessary. The quarterly e-newsletters (five sent to date) have also pulled 

together farming information both locally and nationally. 

The group has now gained 104 'farmer' members and 15 'other' members who have a connection 

to farming within the Forest of Bowland National Landscape, and Nichola will soon be distributing 

some new flyers to the local auctions/farm suppliers to encourage further sign-ups over the next 

year. 

There are now six further meetings in the pipeline, again with varying topics including 'Woodlands, 

Wood Pasture and Orchard creation', 'Dry stone walling gapping up training sessions', 'Farm 

resilience through diversification', and 'Raising awareness of mental health in agriculture'. 

For further information email nichola.gill@lancashire.gov.uk  

 

Quernmore and Conder Valley – Landscape Enhancement Initiative 

 

Winter and early spring have seen National Grid LEI-funded projects in 

the Crook o' Lune, Quernmore and Ellel areas continue. 

 

Year 3 of the programme has seen 600m of hedge planting/gapping, 

over 800m of hedge laying and 100m of dry stone wall refurbishment 

completed. 

 

Work will continue during 2024-2025, with a focus on identifying small 

woodland planting sites and locations for tree cages. 

 

For further information email sandra.silk@lancashire.gov.uk   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 13

mailto:nichola.gill@lancashire.gov.uk
mailto:sandra.silk@lancashire.gov.uk


4 

 

Traditional Boundaries 

 

A long-standing programme in Bowland, our 

Traditional Boundaries work continued during winter 

2023 and spring this year. 

Hedge laying training took place in Downham, Ribble 

Valley, on the 11th and 12th November and 10th 

March, with two days of tuition at the popular Crook 

o' Lune, Lancaster, on the 16th and 17th November.  

In all, there were 30 attendances over these three 

events. 

The Lancashire & Westmorland Hedge Laying 

Association recently took the decision to reduce the 

number of competitions in their "Grand Prix" series to just two, and Bowland – along with the event 

held in Westmorland – was chosen as one of the locations. 

 

The Bowland Celebration of Hedges took place on Saturday 16th March, kindly hosted, once again, 

by the Downham Estate. 25 participants took part in four classes on the day, with styles ranging 

from our local Lancashire & Westmorland, to demonstrations of both the Cheshire and Welsh 

styles. Thanks go to  the LWHA for organising and overseeing the day. 

For further information contact sandra.silk@lancashire.gov.uk  

 

Regenerative Agriculture and Net Zero: North Yorkshire research 

 

Working with 4 other protected landscapes in 

North Yorkshire we have embarked on a major 

piece of research funded by the new combined 

mayoral authority, and Lancashire County Council, 

to establish a baseline of carbon emissions from 

agriculture and to assess the impact that a 

transition to regenerative practices may have on 

the region's goal of Net Zero. 

Regenerative farming is a developing scene, aiming 

to regenerate the soil by adopting practices to increase fertility, improve structure and reduce 

erosion and compaction. It has also been touted as a way to decarbonise the food system and to 

provide resilience to climate shocks. Here in Bowland we have supported a number of farms to 

develop regenerative practice, with support and mentoring supplied via the FiPL programme. 

There is, however, little data available on its long-term impact on carbon in hill farming scenarios; 

plus conflicting evidence on its potential impact, or scale of impact, on reducing emissions. Our 

research intends to establish a baseline of emissions and to draw together existing studies into the 

impact of regenerative practice as an authoritative study. 

The research will also include the economic impacts of transitioning to this new practice and 

explore how it can work in harmony with nature recovery. 

A steering group comprising representatives from the protected landscapes have appointed 

consultants' consortium, Cumulus Fera to undertake the work. Initially they will use nationally 

available data sets to estimate the total carbon (and equivalent) emissions from agricultural activity 

Page 14

mailto:sandra.silk@lancashire.gov.uk


5 

 

– largely hill farming but also some arable production in the Howardian Hills and North York Moors. 

This will be backed up with information from farm scale carbon audits. Over the next 6-9 months 

the study will look at how changes in farming practice could support the drive to net zero and draw 

up a report and action plan. The work will be supported by an expert advisory panel and a number of 

consultations with farmers and other stakeholders. 

Our overall aim is to produce a compelling argument for a transition to regenerative agriculture in 

the protected landscapes. This will include a strong call for support for the continuation and 

development of financial support to farmers, plus a well-funded farm advisory service hosted by 

the protected landscapes. The report will feed into our next Management Plan and future funding 

applications.  

For more information, please contact cathy.hopley@lancashire.gov.uk or 

sarah.robinson@lancashire.gov.uk  

 

Resilient and Sustainable Communities 

Eco Escapes 

Following the development work during 2023 to produce 12 Eco Escapes 

itineraries, we've now produced a high-quality leaflet to showcase the 12 

bespoke itineraries to help visitors make the most of their time in Bowland's 

outstanding natural landscape. Each itinerary focuses on a different area or 

aspect of the Eco Escapes offer, from walking and cycling adventures to 

railway walks and foodie tours. Eco Escapes are about slowing down, taking 

time and tuning into the slower rhythms of nature. They are about relaxing, 

resetting and reconnecting with the natural world more sustainably. 

We've also spent some time updating the database and content on the 

website and have developed an interactive active travel map for visitors to 

easily plan their next Eco Escape, linked to the business offer: 
www.discoverbowland.uk/activities/ecoescapes/map/    

For further information please contact hetty.byrne@lancashire.gov.uk  

 

A Diamond Year to Discover Bowland 

 

2024 marks 60 years since the designation of the Forest of Bowland as an 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and coincides with celebrating our 

new name as a National Landscape, making this a fantastic year to explore 

and enjoy this beautiful area. 

As the Forest of Bowland launches its 2024 ‘Discover Bowland Guide', rural 

businesses in the area’s Sustainable Tourism Network are emphasising the 

year-round appeal of this beautiful area and a warm welcome for everyone. 

As well as offering practical advice and information on making the most of 

holidays and short breaks in the area, the Discover Bowland Guide also 

highlights the increasingly diverse tourism options in the amazing 

landscapes of the Forest of Bowland. 

Page 15

mailto:cathy.hopley@lancashire.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.robinson@lancashire.gov.uk
http://www.discoverbowland.uk/activities/ecoescapes/map/
mailto:hetty.byrne@lancashire.gov.uk


6 

 

From year-round favourites like walking and cycling, to 

exploring the night skies, food tourism and the 

therapeutic benefits of being in nature, the new Guide is 

packed with useful tips and practical information. 

The 116-page Discover guide also includes features 

about the fantastic work of the Forest of Bowland 

National Landscape Team. Find out about new peatland 

restoration practices, volunteer bumble bee helpers, 

nature recovery plans and new developments to break 

down barriers to accessing the countryside.  

This year’s guide was launched at Wild Fox Distillery, Inglewhite on 8th February and was attended 

by members of the Bowland Sustainable Tourism Business network, who enjoyed a morning of 

networking and finding out about more inclusive and accessible tourism. 

Printed in a durable perfect-bound pocket-friendly format, the guide is widely available at tourist 

information centres, hospitality and accommodation providers and other outlets across the Forest 

of Bowland National Landscape. The guide is also available to download online at 

www.forestofbowland.com/discover-bowland-guide-0  

For further information please contact hetty.byrne@lancashire.gov.uk  

 

A Strong Connection Between People & the Landscape 

Days to Remember 

 

Days to Remember is the umbrella name for a series of AONB 

projects which aim to support and encourage older people, 

including those living with dementia, to keep connected to 

nature. 

 

Following a successful visit earlier in the autumn, Northwood 

Farm in Higham hosted a further visit on 24th November; this 

time with a group of residents and staff from Park Grove, a 

residential care home in Burscough. 

 

13th December saw Jennifer Reid, performer of 19th century 

Lancashire dialect and Victorian broadside ballads, visit Age UK 

Lancashire's cognitive stimulation therapy group in Burnley. 

During the session, Jenn sang her traditional songs, whilst 

sharing a hand loom weaving activity with participants. 

 

The opportunities for keeping connected to nature were 

highlighted in a talk given to Lancashire County Council's Fylde 

and Wyre Activities Forum held in Lytham on 24th January. 

 

For more information email sandra.silk@lancashire.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 16

http://www.forestofbowland.com/discover-bowland-guide-0
mailto:hetty.byrne@lancashire.gov.uk
mailto:sandra.silk@lancashire.gov.uk


7 

 

Festival Bowland 

 

The annual Bowland Dark Skies Festival took place 

once again during February half-term, with stargazing 

talks, photography tips, family crafts – even a dark-

skies inspired food tour – all on the menu this year.  

The spring period is always a busy time in the 

programme, and this year is no exception. 

Earthworms - fascinating, yet under-appreciated 

annelids! – feature in April, along with river dipping, 

bird watching, easy access walks and forest bathing.   

 

International Dawn Chorus Day is being celebrated at 

two locations - Garstang and Gisburn Forest - over the weekend of the 4th and 5th May; or why not 

brush up on your bumblebee ID skills (or pottery skills!) instead? 

 

Garstang Walking Festival is celebrating its 20th anniversary this year, which makes 2024 a great 

time to explore this lovely part of Bowland. 

Event details can be found at: www.forestofbowland.com/festival-bowland 

For further information email sandra.silk@lancashire.gov.uk 

 

Diamonds in the Landscape 

 

Originally designated as an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty in 

1964, the Forest of Bowland celebrates 60 years this year, with a 

brand new name – Forest of Bowland National Landscape. 

To mark this special anniversary, we have curated a photography 

exhibition entitled, Diamonds in the Landscape, which was 

launched at Clitheroe Castle Museum on 9th February. 

Entries for the exhibition have been chosen from images 

submitted to the National Landscape Partnership's Diamonds in 

the Landscape Competition, which took place during autumn last 

year. 

From far-reaching moorland vistas and stunning wildlife shots, to 

majestic woodlands and atmospheric pastoral scenes, the 

talented photographers have perfectly captured the variety and 

beauty of the Bowland landscape. 

The exhibition will be available in the Stewards Gallery at Clitheroe Castle until 28th April, before 

moving to The Folly, in Settle, on May 4th. 

 

Nature Calling 

 

The Forest of Bowland has been included as one of just 6 national landscapes in a major new 

£2million national arts programme: Nature Calling. This is funded by the Arts Council and Defra and 

led by the National Landscapes Association with support from Activate Arts and the Poetry School. 

Page 17

http://www.forestofbowland.com/festival-bowland
mailto:sandra.silk@lancashire.gov.uk


8 

 

This ambitious programme was inspired by the 

creative work that many protected areas have 

been involved in recently, including ourselves 

with our 50th Anniversary works and the 

creative strand included in the Pendle Hill 

Landscape Partnership. In response, the 

National Landscapes Association drew up an 

Arts Strategy, and a Memorandum of 

Understanding with Arts Council England was 

signed in 2021, followed by our successful bid 

for Nature Calling in 2023.  

The aim of Nature Calling is to listen to our 

communities and ensure our landscapes are a place for everyone. It will engage new audiences 

across England and inspire the whole National Landscapes family, whilst bringing the special 

qualities of our National Landscapes to the fore. 

The Forest of Bowland is represented on the national steering group and will act as a 'hub location' 

hosting two artists of national importance: one this summer and another next year. The first 

commission is based around words, and here in Bowland we will focus our engagement on young 

people. The second artist or company will be inspired by the initial work to develop a follow on 

creative work which will form part of a national season in 2025.  

We will also work with 6 'spoke protected landscapes' comprising northern national landscapes and 

the Yorkshire Dales National Park. We aim to support their staff developing creative activity and to 

offer training and support in engaging under-served communities. 

We are tasked locally with raising £20,000 over the life of the programme to match the nationally 

raised funds. £5000 has already been secured from the Pendle Hill legacy fund and although we 

have underwritten the balance from project funds we will also look at local fundraising opportunities 

to fill the gap. 

The call for artists is now open and details can be seen at 

https://www.forestofbowland.com/nature-calling   

For more information, please contact cathy.hopley@lancashire.gov.uk  

 

Access for All 

 

Over the last 6 months we have partnered with Access the Dales to 

explore making the inaccessible accessible and to break down the 

barriers that prevent people living with disabilities enjoying the great 

outdoors, either independently or with their friends and family. 

 

The Forest of Bowland now has a number of hub locations across the 

National Landscape where all-terrain wheelchairs are available to hire 

and can be used along designated trails.  New sites include Wood End 

Farm, New Laund Farm, Sabden and the existing Tramper which is 

available to hire from Gisburn Forest cafe.  This has provided an 

important link between the Removing Barriers funding and Farming in 

Protected Landscapes as it enables us to advise and support FiPL 

Page 18

https://www.forestofbowland.com/nature-calling
mailto:cathy.hopley@lancashire.gov.uk
https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.access-the-dales.com%2F&data=05%7C02%7CHetty.Byrne%40lancashire.gov.uk%7C9fe23fc5b6c04233719708dc437abf1a%7C9f683e26d8b946099ec4e1a36e4bb4d2%7C0%7C0%7C638459441662369504%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=1p7WbuaOoRkLRBJoJEvMbxR7Drvqfg6BQfkZ2AUM9Z0%3D&reserved=0


9 

 

applicants in improving access to their farms either by provision of All Terrain Wheelchairs or 

improving the infrastructure so that visitors are able to have a more obstruction free visit to the 

Forest of Bowland. 

For further information visit: www.forestofbowland.com/access-all  

 

We're excited to be continuing this work with Access the Dales and we are planning to host a 2-day 

event - 25 to 26 June at Gisburn Forest, 'Access for All - A Celebration of What is Possible'.  For 

further information visit: www.forestofbowland.com/access-all-event   

For further information email hetty.byrne@lancashire.gov.uk or sarah.dornan@lancashire.gov.uk 

Removing Barriers: Access for All Funding 

 

The three-year funding stream Removing Barriers Access for 

All was designed to be a planning year during year two which 

is drawing to a close, but due to a change there has been 

some additional funds offered to us in year two. This has 

allowed the purchase of two Paratrekers, a robust non 

powered wheelchair ideal for use with schools who wish to 

involve disabled children in their school trip and activities. 

These are being hosted at Woodend Farm as part of their 

accessible offer to visitors but are available for other 

potential sites who wish to try them before ordering their 

own. 

 

 

Other projects included in this year's funding include additional works to the 

Sabden Tramper trail and bridleway which provides a bigger accessible loop 

and in addition some more work at Nicky nook where the steps towards 

Grizedale will be removed and made into an easier experience for visitors. 

Finally, a short section of concessionary bridleway at hermitage Field near 

to Crook of Lune, Caton has had some repairs and made the route once 

again suitable for Trampers. 

 

Access Land 

 

Work continues to provide advice and support to landowners and managers relating to Open 

Access and visitor pressure. This season it has included on advice relating to closures of access 

points and the impending fire risk season. There is also on-going work with the Lancashire Rural 

Task Force to provide signage relating to ground nesting birds and livestock worrying including 

lambing signs as well as consulting with Natural England over times of high fire risk and restrictions 

of access points. 

Promoted Routes 

 

The network continues to develop with two new volunteers recruited to monitor the current walks, 

several of these require some basic maintenance which has been carried out with the volunteers 

and one route will need contractor input planned for spring/summer 2024. 

For further information email sarah.dornan@lancashire.gov.uk 

Page 19

https://eur03.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.forestofbowland.com%2Faccess-all&data=05%7C02%7CHetty.Byrne%40lancashire.gov.uk%7C9fe23fc5b6c04233719708dc437abf1a%7C9f683e26d8b946099ec4e1a36e4bb4d2%7C0%7C0%7C638459441662382215%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=4hJcV5wt8NKAK4lxmb06iqyb0PqxPf%2FiuT9PBzHd1QQ%3D&reserved=0
http://www.forestofbowland.com/access-all-event
mailto:hetty.byrne@lancashire.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.dornan@lancashire.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.dornan@lancashire.gov.uk


Page 20


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting held on 19 October 2023
	7 National Landscape Team Activity Report (Oct 2023 - April 2024)

